
	

IN THE UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT 
FOR THE EASTERN DISTRICT OF TEXAS 

BEAUMONT DIVISION 
 
UNITED STATES OF AMERICA,   § 
Plaintiff,   § 
   § 
v.   § No. 1:17-CV-130 
   §  
(1) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
6140 EASTEX FREEWAY, BEAUMONT,  § 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING § 
ALL BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND  § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(2) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
5 ESTATES OF MONTCLAIRE, BEAUMONT, § 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING § 
ALL BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND  § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(3) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
5269 WESTGATE, LUMBERTON, HARDIN § 
COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING ALL    § 
BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND    § 
IMPROVEMENTS   § 
THEREON; AND   § 
(4) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
4320 CHRISTINA COURT, BEAUMONT,  § 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING § 
ALL BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND  § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(5) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
6215 GRACEMOUNT, BEAUMONT,   § 
JEFFERSON COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING § 
ALL BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND  § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(6) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
3655 GRAYSON, BEAUMONT, JEFFERSON § 
COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING ALL    § 
BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND    § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(7) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
1355 11TH N, BEAUMONT, JEFFERSON  § 
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COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING ALL   § 
BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND    § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(8) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
1502 CALDER, BEAUMONT, JEFFERSON  § 
COUNTY, TEXAS, INCLUDING ALL   § 
BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND    § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(9) REAL PROPERTY LOCATED AT   § 
18428 N 14TH, PHOENIX, MARICOPA   § 
COUNTY, ARIZONA, INCLUDING ALL  § 
BUILDINGS, APPURTENANCES, AND    § 
IMPROVEMENTS THEREON;   § 
(10) $230,100 IN UNITED STATES CURRENCY § 
   § 
Defendants.   § 
 

VERIFIED COMPLAINT FOR FORFEITURE 
 

In accordance with Fed. R. Civ. P. Supplemental Rule G(2), the United States of 

America, Plaintiff, brings this complaint for forfeiture and alleges as follows: 

NATURE OF ACTION 

1. This matter is an in rem action brought against the following defendant 

property: 

a. The real property located at 6140 Eastex Freeway, Beaumont, 

Jefferson County, Texas: 

TRACT I 
 
That certain 1.1583 acre tract burdened in its entirety by a 100 foot 
wide drainage easement, together with the reversionary rights on, in 
and under the said 1.1583 acre tract which is more particularly 
described in an instrument dated February 5, 1969, and recorded in 
Volume 1591 at Page 235 et seq., of the Deed Records of Jefferson 
County, Texas, and being more particularly described by metes and 
bounds as follows: 
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1.1583 acres of land, more or less, same being out of and a part of 
that certain 364.7 acre tract of land out of the F. Bigner Survey, 
Abstract No. 1, in Jefferson County, Texas and said 364.7 acre tract 
of land was conveyed to Standard Oil & Gas Company by Deed 
dated July 31, 1985, recorded in Volume 397, Page 291, Deed 
Records of Jefferson County, Texas, said 1.1583 acres of land, more 
or less, being more particularly described as follows; 
 
BEGINNING at the intersection of the existing East right-of-way 
line of U.S. Highway 69, 96 and 287 and the East line of proposed 
outfall channel “B”; said point also being North 0 deg. 27 min. West, 
a distance of 182.4 feet from centerline station 247+55.92 of U.S. 
Highway 69, 96 and 287; 
 
THENCE North 0 deg. 27 min. West, a distance of 617.81 feet to a 
point for corner, said point also being South 0 deg. 27 min. East, a 
distance of 82.79 feet from the Northeast corner of said 364.7 acre 
tract; 
 
THENCE South 29 deg. 55 min. West, a distance of 197.81 feet to a 
point for corner; 
 
THENCE South 0 deg. 27 min. East, a distance of 390.58 feet to a 
point for corner, said point also being on the East right of way line of 
U.S. Highway 69, 96, and 287; 
 
THENCE South 60 deg. 55 min. East, along the East right of way 
line of U.S. Highway 69, 96, and 287, a distance of 114.93 feet to 
the POINT OF BEGINNING. 
 
Tract II 
 
Being a 4.530 acres tract of land out of the Frederick Bigner Survey, 
Abstract No. 1. Jefferson County, Texas, and a part of the certain 
364.7 acre tract described as “First Tract” in deed from Treadway 
Land Company to Yount-Lee Company, dated February 13, 1933, 
recorded in Volume 374, Page 113, Deed Records of Jefferson 
County, Texas and being more particularly described as follows: 
 
COMMENCING at a Texas Highway Department concrete 
monument marking the intersection of the northeast right-of-way 
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line of U.S. Highway 69 (East-Tex Freeway) and die cm right-of- 
way line of Judy Lane; 
 
THENCE in a northwesterly direction along the acre of a curve to 
the left, being along the easterly right-of-way line of Judy Lane an 
acre distance of 188.0 feet to an iron rod marking the PLACE OF 
BEGINNING of the tract herein described, said curve having a 
central angle of 18 deg. 14 min. 17 sec a radius is 590.61 feet and a 
chord of 187.21 feet; 
 
THENCE South 3 deg. 48 min. 21 sec. East, a distance of 84.81 feet 
to an iron rod for corner and being the north corner of the 1.1583 
acre tract described in the certain drainage easement from Pan 
American Petroleum Corporation to the State of Texas, dated 
February 5, 1969, said corner being located in the northeast right-of-
way line of a 100 foot wide drainage easement; 
 
THENCE South 27 deg. 21 min. 41 sec. West, along the northwest 
right-of-way line of said 100 foot wide drainage easement, a a 
distance of 198.03 feet to an iron rod for corner; 
 
THENCE South 2 deg. 59 min. 18 sec. East, with the west right-of- 
way of said 100 foot wide drainage easement and being the west line 
of said 1.1583 acre tract, a distance of 391.06 feet to an iron rod 
marking the southwest corner of the said 1.1583 acre tract on the 
northeast right-of-way of U.S. Highway 69 (East-Tex Freeway), said 
corner also being the southeast corner of the 4.530 acre tract herein 
described; 
 
THENCE North 63 deg. 26 min. 57 sec. West, along the northeast 
right-of-way line of U.S. Highway 69 (East-Tex Freeway), a 
distance of 346.69 feet to an iron rod for corner;  
 
THENCE North 26 deg. 33 min. 03 sec. East, a distance of 124.78 
feet to an iron rod for corner; 
 
THENCE North 0 deg. 29 min. 14 sec. East, a distance of 77.05 feet 
to an iron rod for angle corner; 
 
THENCE North 66 deg. 17 min. 45 sec. West, a distance of 185.0 
feet to the PLACE OF BEGINNING, containing in area 4.530 acres 
of land, more or less. 
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b. The real property located at 5 Estates of Montclaire, Beaumont, 

 
Jefferson County, Texas: 

 
Lot Number Five (5), Block Number Two (2), of Montclaire 
Phase  One, according to the amended final plat of lots 
number Five and Six (5 & 6), Block Number Two (2), 
Montclaire Phase One, as recorded under County Clerk’s File 
No. 2008009866, Official Public Records of Real Property of 
Jefferson County, Texas; and   

 
Lot Number Four (4), Block Number Two (2), of Montclaire 
Phase One, according to the City of Beaumont, Jefferson 
County, Texas, according to the map or plat on file and of 
record in Volume 16, Page 350 of the Map Records of 
Jefferson County, Texas. 

 
c. The real property located at 5269 Westgate, Lumberton, Hardin 

County, Texas:  

Lot Twenty-Six (26), in Block Number Seven (7), of Westwood VII, 
according to the Map, Plat and/or Dedication Deed thereof, recorded 
under Clerk’s File No. 2012-31832 of the Official Public Records of 
Real Property of Hardin County, Texas. 
 

d. The real property located at 4320 Christina Court, Beaumont, 

Jefferson County, Texas:  

Lot Number Twenty-Seven (27), in Block Number One (1) of 
Christina Court, Section II, an addition to the City of 
Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas, as the same appears 
upon the map or plat thereof, on file and of record in Volume 
17, Page 344, Map Records of Jefferson County, Texas. 

 
e. The real property located at 6215 Gracemount, Beaumont,  
 
 Jefferson County, Texas: 
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Lot Number Seventy-Two (72) in Block Number Three (3) of 
Barrington Heights, Phase IV, an addition to the City of 
Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas, as the same appears 
upon the map or plat thereof, on file and of record in Volume 
16, Page 400, Map Records of Jefferson County, Texas. 

 
f. The real property located at 3655 Grayson, Beaumont,  
 

Jefferson County, Texas: 
 

Lot Number Six (6) in Block Number Two (2) of Fairfield, 
Phase I to the City of Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas, as 
the same appears upon the map or plat thereof, on file and of 
record in Volume 17, Page 256, Map Records of Jefferson 
County, Texas. 

    
  g. The real property located at 1355 11th N Street, Beaumont,  
 
   Jefferson County, Texas: 
 

Being that certain tract of land out of and a part of Block 
Twenty (20) of the J.B. Langham Estates Subdivision, an 
addition in Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas, as shown on 
the map thereof recorded in Volume 1, Page 195, Map 
Records, Jefferson County, Texas, the herein described tract 
being one and the same tract as described in deed to Scott 
Monroe dated 9/24/90 recorded under Film Code No. 103-36-
0513 Official Public Records of Real Property, Jefferson 
County, Texas. 

 
h. The real property located at 1502 Calder, Beaumont, 
 

Jefferson County, Texas: 
 
Lot Nos. Ten and Eleven (10 & 11), together with the 
adjacent one-half of the abandoned alley, in Block No. Forty 
(40) of Calder Addition to the City of Beaumont, Jefferson 
County, Texas, according to the map or plat of record in 
Volume 55, Page 163, Deed Records of Jefferson County, 
Texas; mistakenly cited as Volume 2, Page 115, Map Records 
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of Jefferson County, Texas in deed recorded in Clerk’s File 
No. 2000007071, Real Property Records of Jefferson County, 
Texas. 

 
i. The real property located at 18428 N 14th Street, Phoenix,  

Maricopa County, Arizona: 
 
Lot 75, Stone Mountain Preserve, according to Book 388 of 
Maps, Page 45, Records of Maricopa County, Arizona. 

 
  j. $230,100 in United States Currency. 

 
JURISDICTION AND VENUE 

2. The Court has subject matter jurisdiction over an action commenced by the 

United States pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1345 and over an action for forfeiture pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1355(a).  

3. The Court has in rem jurisdiction over the defendant property pursuant to 

28 U.S.C. § 1355(b)(1)(A) because acts or omissions giving rise to the forfeiture occurred 

in the Eastern District of Texas.  The Court also has in rem jurisdiction over the 

defendant property located in the Eastern District of Texas pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 

1355(b)(1)(B) and 1395(b). 

4. Venue is proper pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §1355(b)(1)(A) because acts or 

omissions giving rise to the forfeiture occurred in the Eastern District of Texas. 

LEGAL BASIS FOR FORFEITURE 

5. The defendant property is subject to forfeiture pursuant to 18 U.S.C. § 

981(a) and 31 U.S.C. § 5317(c) because it constitutes property involved in transactions or 
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attempted transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1955, 1956, and 1957, and/or is 

property traceable to violations of 18 U.S.C. §§ 1084 and 1952 and 31 U.S.C. § 5324. 

FACTUAL BACKGROUND 

6. The following real property has not been seized:  

a. 6140 Eastex Freeway, Beaumont,  Jefferson County, Texas; 

b. 5 Estates of Montclaire, Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas;  

c. 5269 Westgate, Lumberton, Hardin County, Texas;  

d. 4320 Christina Court, Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas; 

e. 6215 Gracemount, Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas; 

f. 3655 Grayson, Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas; 

g. 1355 11th N Street, Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas; 

h. 1502 Calder, Beaumont, Jefferson County, Texas; and 

i. 18428 N. 14th Street, Phoenix, Maricopa County, Arizona. 

7. On or about February 6, 2017, law enforcement officers seized the 

following personal property during a traffic stop: 

j. $230,100 in United States Currency. 

These seized funds are currently in the custody of the United States Customs and Border 

Protection. 

8. The government does not request authority from the Court to seize the 

above-listed real property at this time.  Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. §§ 985(b)(l) and (c)(l), the 

government will instead do the following: 
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a. Post notice of this action and a copy of the Complaint on the 

property; 

b. Serve notice of this action and a copy of this Complaint on the real 

property owner and any other person or entity who may claim an 

interest in the real property; and 

c. File a lis pendens in county records of the real property’s status as a 

defendant in this in rem action. 

9. The facts and circumstances supporting forfeiture of the above-described 

real property are contained in the Affidavit of Special Agent Jonathan Thomas, attached 

hereto and incorporated herein by reference. 

POTENTIAL CLAIMANTS 

10. The potential claimants to the defendant property are: 

 Larry Tillery 
 5 Estates of Montclaire 
 Beaumont, Texas 77706 
  

Judy K. Tillery 
 5 Estates of Montclaire 
 Beaumont, Texas 77706 
 

Brian K. Tillery 
4320 Christina Court 
Beaumont, Texas 77706 

  
Tiffany H. Tillery 
4320 Christina Court 
Beaumont, Texas 77706 
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Tara Tiffany Miller 
18428 N. 14th Street 
Phoenix, Arizona 85022 
 
Lamar Capital, Ltd. 
6140 Eastex Freeway 
Beaumont, Texas 77708  
 
Daylight Motors, Inc. 
6140 Eastex Freeway 
Beaumont, Texas 77708  

 
CommunityBank of Texas, N.A. 
5599 Delaware Street 
Beaumont, Texas 77706 

 
11. Potential claimant Larry Tillery is being represented by: 

Allen Parker 
THE PARKER LAW FIRM 
1 Plaza Square  
Port Arthur, Texas 77642-5513 
 

12. Notice of the proposed administrative forfeiture of the seized funds was 

published in accordance with 18 U.S.C. § 983(a) and 19 U.S.C. § 1607. Pursuant to 18 

U.S.C. § 983(a), this civil action is required because claimant Larry Tillery timely filed a 

verified claim of ownership as to the seized funds on or about March 13, 2017. 

13. The above-listed claimant Larry Tillery has filed a verified claim as to the 

seized personal property. 

CLAIM FOR RELIEF 

14. The United States respectfully requests that the Court forfeit the defendant 

property to the United States, award costs and disbursements in this action to the United 

States, and order any other relief that the Court deems appropriate.  
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                                                      Respectfully submitted, 
 

     BRIT FEATHERSTON 
ACTING UNITED STATES ATTORNEY 

       
      /s/   Robert Austin Wells    /s/ 
      ROBERT AUSTIN WELLS 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
      Texas State Bar No. 24033327 
      110 N. College, Suite 700 
      Tyler, Texas  75702 
      Tel: (903) 590-1400 
      Fax: (903) 590-1437 
      Email: robert.wells3@usdoj.gov 
        
      JAMES G. GILLINGHAM 
      Assistant United States Attorney 
      Texas State Bar No. 24065295 
      110 N. College, Suite 700 
      Tyler, Texas  75702 
      Tel: (903) 590-1400 
      Fax: (903) 590-1437 
      Email: James.Gillingham@usdoj.gov 
 

ATTORNEYS FOR THE UNITED STATES 
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1.

2.

J.

VERIFICATION PURSUANT TO 28 U.S.C. 8 1746

I, Jonathan Thomas, hereby state that:

I am a Special Agent with the Department of Homeland Security,
Homeland Security Investigations.

I have read this Complaint, and the information contained herein is true and
correct to the best of my knowledge.

The information contained in this Complaint comes from the official files
and records of the United States, statements from other law enforcement
officers, and my investigation of the case.

I state and veriff under penalty of perjury that the fi ng is true and correct.

, Special Agent
of Homeland Security,

Security Investigations

out"a, Qlrf>urt
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